1954

Oregon Short Line Railroad Company and Union Pacific Railroad Company v. Murray City and Statewide Plumbing and Heating Company, Inc. : Brief for Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Both the Oregon Short Line Railroad Company and Defendant Murray City claim to be the owner of a strip of land approximately four (4) rods wide running in a northerly and southerly direction from what is now known as 5300 South in Murray City to 6400 South at a point known of as 200 West (R. 3).

Murray City was, in the spring of 1953, engaged in laying a sewer, one main of which ran the full length of the above piece of ground which was known of as Second

West Street in Murray. The railroad company claimed that the City merely had a prescriptive right to the travelled portion of the land and that this prescriptive right did not include the right to install a sewer underground. The railroad brought this action to enjoin the City from installing its sewer upon Second West Street (R. 1-7).

The City claimed that the land in question was a public highway and had been such prior to 1871 and that the railroad merely had an easement down the middle of the street and the City, by constructing a sewer was not interfering in any way with the railroad's easement (R. 8-12).

The City was also engaged in running sewer lines along 53rd South Street and 59th South, 61st South and 64th South Streets, and where these streets were crossed by the railroad track, the railroad maintained that the City could not install the sewer under its tracks without its permission. The City maintained that it had jurisdiction to install such sewers under its public highways provided it did not in any way interfere with or damage the railroad property.

The undisputed evidence is as follows: The railroad track in question was constructed in the summer of 1871 (R. 19). At the time it was constructed there were no deeds or rights of way procured by the railroad over the area involved in this law suit.

The railroad prepared a map of the area in question in 1920 which was admitted in evidence as Exhibit D-10. This map shows there then existed a travelled roadway

along the west side of the railroad tracks. The railroad offered no evidence as to when travel on Second West Street commenced, nor any evidence as to the extent of the use of Second West Street.

Plaintiff produced two witnesses, J. E. Walhquist and J. Clifford Hanson, now mayor of Murray. Walhquist lived at 6276 South Second West and now lives at 121 West 5900 South, which is adjacent to Second West Street (R. 102). Mr. Hanson has lived on Second West Street his entire life, part of the time at 6239 and the balance at 6191 (R. 120). Both men attended the 24th District School which was located on the east side of Second West Street at approximately 6100 South (R. 104, 121). The 24th District School was built in 1874 (R. 102-3), and the only means of ingress and egress to said school was from Second West Street (R. 103-123). Both Walhquist and Hanson testified that according to their earliest recollections, approximately 1899, that in front of the 24th District School there was travel on both the east and west sides of the railroad tracks (R. 105-121). The travel on the east side was from a point approximately two hundred yards South of the school to a point three to four hundred yards North of the school; travel on the east side was abandoned about 1930 (R. 124), when the railroad tracks were raised and the crossings removed (R. 125).

Mr. Hanson testified that according to his earliest recollection there were about as many homes on Second West Street as there are at the present time (R. 122).

Exhibit A prepared by the Plaintiff for this action shows the homes abutting upon Second West Street, and it is to be noted that there are nine (9) homes on the east side of Second West Street, whose only means of ingress and egress is by means of Second West Street. Mr. Hansen remembers ore haulers using Second West Street as early as 1900 in hauling ores to the old Germania Smelter, the haulers coming from Big and Little Cottonwood Canyons down 64th South to Second West and then north to the smelter. A power line of Murray City runs down the east side of the tracks near the east boundary line of the street and has been there since 1914-15 (R. 126, 178). The travelled portion west of the tracks has been oil surfaced, Mr. Hansen says, since 1930 (R. 126), and the railroad's Exhibit P-37 shows that in 1920 this was an oil mulch road. This map also shows water line down the west side supplying the houses on both the east and west sides of the highway, shows Murray City's pole line running down the east side, and also shows houses on both the east and west sides.

Alton Lund, an attorney at law and registered abstractor, was employed by the City for the purpose of making a search of the records of Salt Lake County. He testified that there are very few deeds in the County Recorder's office prior to 1872 and that the lands over which the street in question and railroad ran were taken to patent between 1872 and 1875 (R. 84). He said that the streets in Salt Lake County, except for those in subdivisions or other City plats are not dedicated (R. 86). He said, for example, there is no dedication of State

Street (R. 85-88), and that titles to property abutting upon the public highways generally runs to the center of the street (R. 86). He stated that he searched for deeds conveying property abutting upon Second West between 53rd and 64th South Streets and found the following deeds making reference to a street (R. 77) :

Deed from James Randle to Sven M. Lovendahl, dated June 11, 1875, recorded June 15, 1875 (R. 77) ; in the body of the deed the following reference is made to a road: "thence South on the West line of a county road," (R. 79).

Another deed found by Lund ran from James Randle to James Winchester and other trustees of the 24th School District dated April 7, 1875, which description contained the following reference to a country road: "Thence North on the East line of county road and parallel and 50 links east of the center of the U. S. Railroad track," (R. 80).

Another deed was found from Peter Hanson to Thomas Steffensen dated April 1, 1876, which made the following reference to a county road: "Thence South 88° 45' East 9 chains and 30 links (to the West line of county road) thence South along the West line of county road 5 chains and 78 links."

Another deed was found which ran from Peter Hanson to Carl F. C. Meyer, dated December 16, 1874, which made the following reference to the road: "Thence North 322 rods more or less to the center of the county road (this would refer to 64th South Street) thence on the

center of said road South $84\frac{1}{2}^{\circ}$ 2302 rods to the East line of a four rod street thence on the East line of said street," (R. 81). The four rod street referred to is Second West Street.

The City prepared a Plat of Second West Street between 5300 South and 6400 South and the same was introduced in evidence as Exhibit B-12, and on this Plat the four deeds above referred to are platted showing that the county road referred to was located at the same place as Second West Street is at the present time.

In this connection it is to be noted that the deeds from Peter Hanson to Carl F. C. Meyer are South of 64th South Street and Second West Street does not at this time extend South of 64th South Street, however, Plaintiff caused to be introduced in evidence a copy of the official highway plat of Salt Lake County as Exhibit P-34; this map having been adopted in 1898 by Salt Lake County as the official road map (see Exhibit P-34). This map shows Second West Street, or Route 10 as it was then known, as extending South of 64th South Street. Two exhibits which are unmarked are important in this connection, one being a photostat of the index of highways of Salt Lake County and which shows Highway 10 to be Second West Street, and a photostat of the field notes of Highway 10, which also shows Highway 10 to be the same as Second West Street.

The railroad claims ownership under five deeds introduced in evidence as Exhibits P-1, P-2, P-3, P-4, and

P-5; the pertinent information is shown as follows:

<i>Patent To</i>	<i>When</i>	<i>Deeded to Railroad</i>
Andrew Cahoon	March 3, 1875	December 14, 1874
Benjamin Wright	December 1, 1874	August 12, 1876
James Randle	December 1, 1874	February 14, 1876
Peter Hanson	March 5, 1875	April 4, 1876
Christian Berger	July 10, 1872	July 5, 1873

These deeds grant to the railroad the property traversed by the highway and railroad with the exception of an area of about 758 feet southerly from the North line of Section 24 (R. 41). As to this particular strip of land, the railroad was unable to show any title or interest other than continued user of their tracks.

Based upon the foregoing, the Court found that the railroad owned all of the land in controversy from the East fence line to a point 11 feet West of the center line of the main track of the railroad and found that the City was the owner of the land West of this line to the fence lines on the West and found that the City was the owner of a 64 foot street at 64th South Street and a 24 foot street at 61st South Street, a 50 foot street at 59th South Street and a 26 foot street at 53rd South Street.

The trial judge visited Second West Street and found 64th South to be 66 feet wide with a traveled portion over the railroad tracks 64 feet wide. 61st South was found to be 50 feet wide with a traveled portion over the tracks 24 feet wide; 59th South is 66 feet wide with a 50 foot traveled area over the railroad tracks; and 53rd South is 33 feet wide with a 26 foot traveled portion over the tracks (see Stipulation of Counsel).

THE POINTS THE CITY INTENDS TO RELY
UPON FOR A REVERSAL OF THE JUDGMENT

1. The Court erred in finding that the strip of land approximately four rods in width extending from 53rd South Street to 64th South Street at a point commonly known of as 200 West was not a public thoroughfare, it being contrary to the evidence and erred in finding the Easterly portion of said four rod strip, to-wit: the portion described in Paragraph 16 of the Findings of Fact belonged to the Railroad.

(a) The rights of the public to any part of the four rod strip of land depends upon acceptance pursuant to 43 U.S.C.A. 932 prior to the issuance of patent.

(b) 43 U.S.C.A. 932 does not grant to a railroad the right to acquire a right of way across the public domain and there is no evidence of any right in the railroad to construct its line over the four rod strip in question in 1871, its right depending upon deeds acquired from the patentees between July 5, 1873 and August 12, 1876 and the patentees of the land in question and the railroad as grantee took said property subject to the rights of way acquired by the public prior to the issuance of patent.

(c) The public thoroughfare established by the public along Second West Street was of such width as was reasonably necessary for the public easement.

(d) The public thoroughfare once established has never been abandoned or vacated.

ARGUMENT

1. (a) When the railroad commenced this action it seems fair to say that the drafter of the Complaint intended to rely upon the rights that the railroad obtained pursuant to the five (5) deeds introduced in evidence as Exhibits P-1 through P-5 inclusive. These deeds bear dates between July 5th, 1873 and August 12, 1876.

These deeds covered all of the land in question except a strip of about 758 feet North and South running South-erly from the North line of Section 24 and Plaintiff's only claim to this 758 feet would have to depend upon some kind of prescriptive right. The court, in its Findings of Fact and particularly in Paragraph 16, apparently found that

43 U.S.C.A. 932

applied to railroads and gave to the railroad a piece of land approximately thirty-three (33) feet East of the center of its tracks while only running eleven (11) feet West. There is not anything to indicate just how the court arrived at this lop-sided right of way over the 758 feet in question.

It is the position of the City that the four-rod street was being used by the public prior to the construction of the railroad and that the public right to the highway was acquired pursuant to Section 932, *supra*.

This court has construed the above section in the case of

Lindsay Land v. Churnos, 75 Utah 384, 258
Pac. 646, Utah 1929

where the section was construed to be a standing offer by the Federal Government which could be accepted in any manner by the public using the land for a highway or by a public body formally accepting a piece of land for a highway itself.

Much of the land in Utah was settled upon and reduced to possession many years before any patents were issued. The first land office to be established in Utah was in 1869 and no patents were issued prior to that date. The evidence does not disclose the basis for the issuance of the patents to the land in question whether by preemption or homestead. Homestead laws required five (5) years of occupancy before issuance of patent and if such is the basis of the patents to the land in question the street in question was occupied by the patentees prior to the construction of the railroad in 1871. This being true it can well be asked, upon what right did the railroad rely when constructing its tracks? Having offered no evidence of such right we submit it must have been constructed down an established public highway, unless we wish to assume an illegal act of trespass.

Neither party was able to produce any direct evidence at the trial on which was first the road or the railroad. The following evidence was introduced by the City which throws some light on the subject. The 24th District School was built in 1874 (R. 102-3). The railroad had been constructed at that time and if there was no public road on the East of the railroad track as found by the

trial court in this matter, then the trustees of the 24th District School acquired a piece of property and built a public school which had no means of ingress and egress. The evidence is undisputed that from the time the school was built until it was demolished in 1907, that the only means of ingress and egress was by way of 2nd West Street and we think the least that can be said for this evidence is that the trustees of the 24th District School, when they bought the tract of land in question, certainly believed that they were acquiring a tract of land which abutted upon a public highway. In 1875 when James Randle gave to Sven Lovendahl a deed (R. 77) which in the body thereof, had a clause which read: "Thence South on the West line of a County Road." Certainly James Randle thought that at Second West Street along which this course of the deed ran, was at that time a county road or a public thoroughfare. Peter Hanson would likewise have to believe that Second West Street was a county road when he gave the deed to Thomas Stephenson, and also when he gave the deed to Carl F. C. Meyer (R. 81). James Randle also gave a deed to James Winchester with a similar reference to a county road, the East line of which was East of the center of the U. S. Railroad tracks (R. 81). Now these uncontradicted acts of Randle and Hanson, and the trustees of the 24th District School certainly evidenced a state of mind of people much closer to the facts than anyone now living and, it is respectfully submitted, constitutes the most reliable evidence available that Second West Street had an East side and a West side and that the railroad track

ran down the center thereof.

The evidence is also undisputed that there are now nine (9) homes on the East side of Second West Street (Exhibit A) and their only means of ingress and egress is by means of Second West Street. About the turn of the century, there were nine (9) homes on the East side of Second West Street (R. 12). The owners of these homes undoubtedly believed at the time they were constructed that they were building them upon a public highway. The evidence is silent as to whether these householders ever had any trouble with the railroad because of their being on the East side of the road and having, according to the railroad's contention, to cross its right of way and tracks to get to the travelled portion of the highway. It would seem reasonable that if Second West Street only existed along the West side of the railroad tracks that long before this the railroad and the householders on the East side would have come to grips over the use made by the householders of the railroad's right of way. If the railroad had considered the land East of the tracks as its own private property, it undoubtedly would have objected to the City's putting its power line down the East side of the right of way (R. 126, 178).

(b) Congress enacted:

43 U.S.C.A. 932

in 1866. This Section reads as follows:

"The right of way for the construction of highways over public lands, not reserved for public uses, is hereby granted."

This section has been construed in a number of cases, the best reasoned one being

Burlington , K. & S.W.R. Co. v. Johnson, 16
Pac. Rep. 125, Kansas 1887

In this case Johnson had made a homestead entry and was in possession of land when the railroad constructed a grade and track across a portion of the land occupied by Johnson as a homesteader. From an award to Johnson for damages the railroad appealed, claiming that the word "highways" in Section 932, *supra*, embraced railroads. The court held that the language did not lend itself to such construction arguing that Congress in 1875 enacted a special Section 43 U.S.C.A. 934 which granted rights of way upon public lands to railroads and by such enactment must necessarily have believed that Section 932 did not grant such right. The court disposed of the matter in the following language:

"The railroad company contends that, because he holds under a homestead entry, and has not yet acquired the full legal title, he is entitled to recover nothing beyond the mere injury done to the improvements which he had placed on the land. We cannot agree with this contention. The claim is based mainly on an act of Congress of July 26, 1866, which declares that "the right of way for the construction of highways over public lands not reserved for public uses is hereby granted." Rev. St. U.S. paragraph 2477. It is argued that railroads are highways within the meaning of this provision, and that the plaintiff took his homestead subject to the right of the railroad to appropriate a right of way over the same without any compensation for any value of the

soil or damages otherwise than to his improvements. The term "highways" used in the section quoted does not, in either its ordinary or strict sense, include railroads. It is true that in a certain sense a railroad is a public highway to be constructed and operated according to law and subject to public control. It can only be used, however, in a particular manner, and is not open to common use for foot passengers, horse passengers, animals and carriages, as an ordinary highway may be used. In the usual understanding, a highway is one which is common to all people without distinction, and which they may travel over on foot or horseback or in carriages. Thomp. Highw. 1; Ang. Highw. 3. A railroad and a common highway are essentially different in regard to construction control, and use, as well as ownership, and the distinctions are so well understood that a mention of them is unnecessary.

"It is a familiar rule of law that in interpreting statutes, words and phrases are to be taken in the ordinary sense and common acceptance, unless it appears from the context of the act that a different meaning was intended. We discover nothing in the provision in question, or in the subsequent legislation of congress, which indicates that an unusual meaning was attached to the word, or that it included railroads. Instead of that, we find that, since the law in question was enacted, congress has deemed it necessary, by both general and special acts, to grant right of way to railroads over the public domain. Aside from several special acts, a general one was passed on March 3, 1875, granting to any railroad the right of way through any public lands of the United States. It provided at length the conditions to be observed, and the steps that were to be taken in order to

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