1954

# Oregon Short Line Railroad Company and Union Pacific Railroad Company v. Murray City and Statewide Plumbing and Heating Company, Inc. : Brief for Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

### ARGUMENT

In arguing the points involved on this appeal, respondent will first refer to the points set forth by appellant and the argument of appellant with respect thereto.

#### SUBPARAGRAPHS (a) AND (c) OF APPELLANT'S POINT 1.

Appellant's main point is that the court erred in not finding that the full 4-rod width was a city street. Appellant would have to base such argument upon some appropriation and use sufficient to create such roadway of such width while the property was still public domain. We will combine for purpose of argument appellant's paragraphs (a) and (c) because, if a right to a public way has been acquired either under the federal act or by prescription, that right must be shown by the actual use and will be limited by the use, or the reasonable necessity of the use, which created it.

At the outset, we must express surprise, if not amazement, at the amount of conjecture and the number of *ifs* and *assumptions* contained in appellant's brief. The argument starts with the assumption that "it seems fair" to say plaintiffs *intended* to rely on deeds to show title. Why then should plaintiffs go to the bother of securing an admission from defendants that the railroad was entirely constructed *prior to the date of any patent* and while the land was still public domain (R. 34). Appellant on page 10 of its brief refers to homestead laws providing for 5-year occupancy and says *if* such was the basis of the patent to the property in question, the street in question was *occupied* (not used) by the patentees prior to the building of the railroad. There is no evidence to which appellant can point to answer that "if", and *if* such was the case, must it be further *assumed* that such occupants *used* this so-called 2nd West *as a street*, or should we assume that they used 59th South or 64th South to come to State Street, the main state and county highway.

Appellant says because the railroad offered no evidence to show there was a street, the railroad *must have been* constructed down a public highway. The mere statement of such shows its absurdity. The railroad company proved the construction of its railroad over public domain, plus the securing of full warranty fee title deeds, which were secured practically as soon as patent issued. It was appellants burden to show there was a street *used* before patent. The appellant admitted the railroad was constructed there in 1871 and there was no evidence of *any* USE of a road prior to about 1900. On page 11, appellant says the trustees of the

school “certainly believed” they were acquiring a tract of land abutting on a highway. How do we know they so believed? They “must have believed” 61st South Street was going to be opened because the front door to the school faced the south (R. 112-113). On page 11 appellant states “certainly Randall thought” there was a public road and “Peter Hansen would likewise have to believe” there was a county road there when he deeded to Myers, yet the evidence is conclusive as far as the Myers deed was concerned, that there never was and never has been any sort of a roadway south of 6400 South adjoining the property covered by the Myers deed (R. 113, 134, 162). On page 12 of its brief appellant states that home owners “undoubtedly believed” they were on a highway and “it would seem reasonable” that if 2nd West existed only on the west side there would have been trouble with the railroad company before now.

IN SPITE OF ALL THESE ASSUMPTIONS AND CONJECTURES THERE IS NO EVIDENCE WHATSOEVER TO SUPPORT ANY OF THEM. Home owners now have the only ingress and egress they have ever had, which is that each one has a private crossing over the tracks to the west side of the tracks (Ex. P-11). There *was* “trouble with the railroad company” at least as far back as 1920 (R. 136) and it has been practically continuous, to Mayor Hansen’s own knowledge, for approximately twenty-five years past.

If appellant wants to conjecture: It would “seem reasonable” that if there were a county road in use, such road-

way would have been mentioned in at least *one* of the deeds by at least *one* of the five patentees when they gave their deeds to the railroad company. If we must *assume* that both the railroad and the roadway were established across property which was still public domain, couldn't we assume that there would have been ample room for both without, as appellant now wishes, superimposing one on the other? If we are to indulge further in conjecture, shouldn't we assume that Peter Hansen, the Mayor's ancestor and predecessor in interest, in giving trust deeds and mortgages as he did in Entries 5, 6, 7, 8, and 10 of Exhibit D-32, would have referred to a highway or roadway rather than outlining specifically the railroad right of way, as he did, extending 33 feet on either side of the center of the track? These mortgages in which he so outlined the railroad right of way, without any reference to a roadway are dated respectively 1876, 1878, 1880, 1884, and 1885. Surely, Peter Hansen with his Scandinavian astuteness would no more want to mortgage a county road extending across his property than he would a right of way which he considered the railroad had acquired across his property.

If we want to further indulge in assumptions, we could assume that the deeds upon which appellant seems to place so much reliance showing courses running to a "county road" are merely an indication that the people in the area *intended* to open up a county road in some manner and expected it to extend south of 6400 South as referred to in the Myers deeds, as well as north.

There is no escape from the admitted fact that the railroad was actually constructed in 1871. The only logical



conclusion, therefore, is that the people in the area as it grew began to travel along the railroad track, as was done in many instances in the early west, and if we want to indulge in assumption, the most logical assumption would be that this travel along the track was not objected to by the railroad company and was not of great extent, at least until after the smelters were located in the area and the use of the so-called 2nd West Street no doubt received its greatest impetus with its use by the ore wagons which came west along 64th South Street and then north along the west side of the track to the smelters (R. 137-138). That is when 2nd West Street really began to be traveled as a roadway and that was sometime around approximately 1900, or later. Even then it must not have been used to any great extent until after the extension of Murray City limits to include the whole area, because there appears to have been a very definite change even in the official maps of Murray City from the time that Murray was first incorporated, about 1903, as shown by Exhibit D-30, to a time when the Murray City limits were extended in 1905, as shown in Exhibit D-29.

## EVIDENCE BEFORE THE COURT

In spite of the foregoing, we most respectfully urge that neither this court nor the trial court can base its decisions upon *ifs*, assumptions, conjectures, “must have been”, or “certainly believes.” We must therefore see what the EVIDENCE was upon which the trial court based, or should have based, its findings and decision.

Appellant states at page 9 of its brief: "It is the position of the City that the 4-rod street was being used by the public prior to the construction of the railroad and that the public right to the highway was acquired pursuant to Section 932." There is no EVIDENCE whatsoever of any *use of any roadway* prior to construction of the railroad or prior to issuance of patents. Liberty School was located in the 6100 South area to the east of the tracks sometime after patent. It was stipulated that a Mrs. McMillan went to that Liberty School in 1881, but the stipulation did not extend so far as to say what, if any, roadway she used to get to the school (R. 103), nor that she even lived in the Second West area; she may have lived somewhere east of the school.

With respect to use of any area on the west side of the tracks, there is nothing but conjecture to show any use prior to approximately 1899 (R. 120), which was the point of earliest recollection as far as Mayor Hansen was concerned, and with respect to his recollection one of the earliest things that he could specifically remember was when an engine turned over at the smelters, which were constructed around 1903 (R. 122).

Apparently the same rules apply with respect to acquisition of a highway under 43 U. S. C. A. 932, as where one is acquired by prescription. Therefore, in discussing this matter further, we will state that we will apply the same law to our argument on this point as we will later apply to plaintiff's contention that Murray City holds only a prescriptive right along the west side of the track (respondent's points 1 and 1(A)).

It will be interesting to refer to the two cases from this court cited by the appellant which have involved 43 U. S. C. A. 932. In *Lindsay Land & Livestock Co. v. Churnos*, 75 Utah 384, 285 P. 646, the land in question did not pass from the United States to private owners by patent until sometime after 1894. The evidence was "substantially uncontradicted" and showed that land over which the roadway was located was "unenclosed and uninhabited mountain lands suitable only for grazing purposes." The area had been "extensively used for summer grazing for many years by owners of sheep who trailed them over the route in question \* \* \*." "In 1876 a sawmill was constructed in Davenport Canyon and the road in question was first definitely located and *commenced to be used*." "In about the year 1885" a mining camp was established in the locality and *the road used* for it.

"During all of the time from 1876 until shortly before the commencement of this action the road was used by numerous owners of sheep \* \* \* trailing their herds to and from the summer range and \* \* \* moving their camps and supplies to their herds." "*The use of the road for this purpose was general and extensive.*" There "must have been a hundred herds." One witness "*had 'seen as high as seven herds a day' going over the road.*" There was no assumption, conjecture, or "ifs" in connection with this. This witness *had seen* the road actually thus used. One witness for the plaintiff testified that herds of sheep while trailing through occupied a space of 200 yards on each side of the road (a wagon roadway was admitted by both parties). Others said 100 feet or more, and the trial court held

the road to be 100 feet in width. "There was *evidence* that more than this width *had actually been used*," although the court inferred that had only sawmills or mining been involved the result might have been different.

This court referred to cases holding that even where there is no formal acceptance of such a grant (under the federal act), acceptance is shown by evidence of "*continued use of the road* by the public for such length of time and under such circumstances as to clearly indicate an intention on the part of the public to accept the grant." This court further referred to early statutes providing that "roads laid out and recorded as highways and \* \* \* used \* \* \* for five years, are highways." And where not laid out by public authority, become highways where "continually and uninterruptedly used as a public thoroughfare for a period of ten years." This court concluded that the evidence showed that the road *had been used* by the public "from 1876 to 1894," which was prior to patent and while still public domain, and that this was "a time in excess of that required by the territorial statutes in force for creating a public highway by use."

We accept that case as good law, but there is absolutely no parallel between it and the case at bar and no evidence here whatsoever of public use of any roadway along so-called 2nd West while the land was public domain, nor at any time prior to approximately 1900.

Counsel for appellant places some reliance upon the case of *Jeremy v. Bertagnole*, 101 Utah 1, 116 P. 2d 420, in his attempt to show the "reasonable necessity" that gov-

erns the width of a road acquired by such use. In the *Bertagnole* case one witness, a William Archibald, testified to his personal knowledge, from his own observation, that the roadway in question was used "as early as 1869."

"In addition to the evidence adduced as to the *existence of a roadway* in 1869, some thirteen witnesses testified to the *use* of the road for vehicular and other traffic between 1877 and 1900 and an equal number as to its use since the latter date. Under the laws of 1880 and 1886, quoted *supra*, there is unquestionably abundant evidence to support the trial court's finding or conclusion that the roadway was dedicated and abandoned to the use of the public as a public highway."

The laws of 1880 and 1886 referred to were the same as involved in and were set out in a quote from the *Lindsay Livestock* case, *supra*, with respect to roads used for five years after being laid out and recorded by the county recorder and roads otherwise deemed abandoned to the public by uninterrupted use for a period of ten years. In the *Bertagnole* case this court said:

"\* \* \* While it is true, as contended by appellant, that where dedication is *established by user*, the use to which the way has been put measures the extent of the right to use, this limitation goes to the kind of use. The particular use having been established, such width should be decreed by the court as will make such use convenient and safe. A *bridle path abandoned to the public may not be expanded, by court decree, into a boulevard*. On the other hand, the implied dedication of a roadway to automobile traffic is the dedication of a roadway of sufficient

width for safe and convenient use thereof by such traffic.

"Twenty-eight witnesses were called by defendants, who testified to the nature of the road and the *use thereof which they had observed*, as well as the *use which they had themselves made of the road*. With respect to the use thereof for herding sheep and cattle, William Archibald testified that he *observed* sheep and cattle using it in the early seventies. He worked out poll tax on the road forty years ago. *Use of the road by sheep made work on the road necessary.*

"Testimony of other witnesses was to the effect that at various times *they drove sheep and cattle along the trail*. Such testimony covers a period from the 1870's to the time of trial. \* \* \* From the evidence adduced the inference is clearly a reasonable one that the road was used for the driving of cattle and sheep for a number of years in excess of that required, whenever it was necessary or convenient for the members of the public who were engaged in raising or herding stock to so use it."

In the case at bar not only is there an absolute lack of evidence with respect to use or showing of any necessity for use of the 4-rod width, but the only actual use shown that is of sufficiently definite a nature to enable a court to base any conclusions thereon is the use of that portion west of the tracks since 1900 and as the same has since been oil-surfaced by Murray City (See Exs. P-11 and 16 to 26, inclusive). Such use as shown is sufficient to prove a prescriptive right along the west side, but nothing more.

## PRESCRIPTIVE USE

What is the extent of this prescriptive right? On page 17 of its brief appellant seems to assume that because the Peter Hansen deed to Carl F. Myer referred to a 4-rod street that that would be a reasonable street. Would appellant insist that by virtue of that deed to Myer, and nothing else, the railroad company could be compelled to open a 4-rod street over and along its tracks extending along the property included in the Myer deed south of 64th South? On page 17 counsel states, referring to the entire area involved:

“There is no evidence that there was ever a 4-rod street on either the east or west side of the railroad tracks.”

With such statement we wholeheartedly agree. But counsel goes on to state:

“But there is now, and has for many years been, a 4-rod street with the railroad tracks running down the center of it.”

Does the fact that counsel calls this a street make it one, or would the fact that counsel for respondent would say that that was a 4-rod railroad right of way preclude the appellant? The *evidence* conclusively shows that there is not now and never has been a 4-rod street with railroad tracks running down the center of it. There is not even a 4-rod area enclosed between the right-of-way fences as they exist north of the dividing line between Sections 13 and 24. The only thing which shows a 4-rod street or a 4-rod right of way north of Section 24 is the fee title deeds to the railroad company. Even the fences as they are now in place, particularly along the west side as they extend north from

the north line of Section 24, do not follow along the claimed right-of-way line nor within the 4-rod area claimed by the railroad company (see Ex. P-11). South of the dividing line between Section 13 and Section 24 the fences have in the past and do now approximately encompass a 4-rod width.

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